
CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 

**Please note that, upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate 
the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services.  For additional information to 
request this service, please contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 

 
 

MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
Beloit City Plan Commission 

Wednesday, December 9, 2015 at 7:00 PM 
The Forum 

Beloit City Hall, First Floor 
100 State Street, Beloit 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call 

2. Approval of the Minutes of the November 18, 2015 Meeting 

3. Certified Survey Map – 1345 Ritsher Street 
Review and consideration of a two-lot Certified Survey Map for the property located at 1345 
Ritsher Street 

4. Installation of a Memorial Garden in Horace White Park 
Review and consideration of a request by Family Services to construct a memorial garden in 
Horace White Park located at 825 E. Grand Avenue 

5. Sign Ordinance Exception – Pratt Industries – 1405 Gateway Boulevard 
Public hearing, review and consideration of an exception to Section 30.40(2)(c) of the Outdoor 
Sign Regulations to allow a secondary, on-premises wall sign to be larger than 30 square feet in 
area in an M-2, General Manufacturing District, for the property located at 1405 Gateway 
Boulevard 

 
6. Alley Vacation –900 Blocks of Johnson Street and Townline Avenue  

Review and consideration of the vacation of an unnamed east-west alley located between the 
900 blocks of Johnson Street and Townline Avenue 
 

7. Comprehensive Plan Amendment – 1633 Keeler Avenue – Commonwealth Development 
Public hearing, review and consideration of an amendment to the Future Land Use Map of the 
City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan from Institutional and Community Services to Mixed 
Residential for the property located at 1633 Keeler Avenue (Kolak Education Center) 

8. Planned Unit Development – 1633 Keeler Avenue – Commonwealth Development 
Public hearing, review and consideration of Planned Unit Development – Master Land Use Plan 
for the property located at 1633 Keeler Avenue (Kolak Education Center) 

9. Zoning Map Amendment – 1633 Keeler Avenue – Commonwealth Development Public 
hearing, review and consideration of a Zoning Map Amendment to change the zoning district 
classification from PLI, Public Lands and Institutions District, to PUD, Planned Unit 
Development District, for the property located at 1633 Keeler Avenue (Kolak Education 
Center) 



10. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items 

11. Adjournment 

If you are unable to attend this meeting, please contact Ashley Rosenbaum in the Planning Office at 
364-6700 no later than 4:00 PM the day before the meeting. 

Notice Mailed:  December 3, 2015 Approved: Julie Christensen, Community 
Development Director 



CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 
 
 

MEETING MINUTES 
Beloit City Plan Commission 

Wednesday, November 18, 2015 at 7:00 PM 
The Forum 

Beloit City Hall, First Floor 
100 State Street, Beloit 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call 
Chairperson Faragher called the meeting to order at 7:03pm. Commissioners Moore, Johnson, 
Faragher, Ruster, Tinder, and Finnegan were present. Commissioner Mathis and Councilor 
Kincaid were absent.  
 

2. Approval of the Minutes of the November 4, 2015 Meeting 
Commissioner Tinder moved to amend item 3, paragraph 4 to read, “The Commission and 
Staff…” Commissioner Tinder moved to approve the amended minutes. Commissioner Moore 
seconded the motion. The motion passed, voice vote.  
 

3. Certified Survey Map – 1401, 1495, and 1501 Riverside Drive 
Review and consideration of a three-lot Certified Survey Map for the properties located at 
1401, 1495, and 1501 Riverside Drive in the City of Beloit. 

Ms. Julie Christensen, Director of Community Development, read the staff report and 
recommendation.  

 
Commissioner Faragher asked for clarification regarding the subject lots. Ms. Christensen 
answered his inquiry.  

 
Commissioner Johnson moved to approve the motion. Commissioner Tinder seconded the 
motion. The motion passed, voice vote.  
 

4. Conditional Use Permit – 1230 House Street – Religious Institution  
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Conditional Use Permit to allow a religious 
institution in an R-1B, Single Family Residential District, for property located at 1230 House 
Street. 

Ms. Julie Christensen, Director of Community Development, read the staff report and 
recommendation.  
 
Chairperson Faragher inquired into the use of the public parking lot by the religious 
institution. Ms. Christensen stated that staff had spoken with Brian Ramsey, the Director of 
Parks, and he is agreeable to the use of the parking lot.  
 
Marilyn Sloniker (1958 Cleora Drive, Apartment 18) addressed the Commission. Chairperson 
Faragher asked if she is comfortable with the conditions set forth by Staff. She stated that she is 



comfortable. He also asked when the services would be held. Mrs. Sloniker stated that it has 
still not been determined, but would most likely be held on Sundays and possibly Wednesdays.  
 
Commissioner Johnson moved to approve the motion. Commissioner Ruster seconded the 
motion. The motion passed, voice vote.  
 

5. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items 

There will be a Conditional Use Permit for the drive-thru at the proposed Taco Bell on Prairie 
as well as review of a Memorial Garden in Horace White Park at the next meeting. The Kolak 
rezoning has also been referred back to the Plan Commission along with two Sign Ordinance 
Exceptions (Taco Bell and Pratt).  

6. Adjournment 
The meeting adjourned at 7:20pm.  
 

Minutes respectfully submitted by Ashley Rosenbaum. 
 

 



December 9 Staff Report, CSM, 1345 Ritsher Drive 

CITY OF BELOIT 

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 
Meeting Date: December 9, 2015 
 

Agenda Item: 3 File Number: CSM-2015-13 

Applicant: RH Batterman Owner: Steven Pinnow Location: 1345 Ritsher Street (or 
1360 Madison Road) 

Existing Zoning: R-1A, Single-Family 
Residential 

Existing Land Use: Two single-family 
residences on existing parcel 

Total Area: .708 Acre 

 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
RH Batterman, on behalf of Steven Pinnow, has submitted an Application for the Review of a Minor Subdivision and a 
two-lot Certified Survey Map (CSM) for the property located at 1345 Ritsher Street (also known as 1360 Madison Road) in 
the City of Beloit.  According to Section 12.05(1)(b) of the Subdivision Ordinance, the Plan Commission may approve, 
conditionally approve, or reject any minor subdivision of land within the City or within the City’s extraterritorial jurisdiction 
where there is no dedication of land to the City. 
 
 
Key Issues: 

 Proposed Lot 1 is approximately .48 acres and has frontage on Madison Road. Proposed Lot 2 is approximately 
.22 acres and has frontage on Ritsher Street.  

 The proposed CSM will divide the existing lot at 1345 Ritsher Street into two separate lots. 
 The intent of the proposed CSM is to divide the existing lot into two separate lots with one house on each 

property. Dividing the lot will make it easier for the property owner to sell-off one or both homes in the future.  
 The pool on Proposed Lot 1 will be removed in order to meet the swimming pool setback requirement of 8 feet. 
 Both Proposed Lot 1 and Proposed Lot 2 meet the dimensional and density requirements as outlined in the 

Residential District Standards in Section 7.1 of the Zoning Code (Chapter 19). 
 The City’s Review Agents have reviewed the proposed CSM and have not submitted any comments. 
 The application and proposed CSM are attached to this report. 

 
 
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  
The Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map shows Planned Mixed Use as the most appropriate use for the subject 
properties. According to the recommendations for the Madison Road Planned Mixed Use District, as defined in the 
Comprehensive Plan, the area of Proposed Lot 1 and Proposed Lot 2 should allow for retail, office and residential uses. 
The recommended uses provide a transitional area in the Madison Road corridor between the commercial land uses to 
the north and residential uses to the south of the subject property. The outcome of the proposed CSM is consistent with 
this goal.  Consideration of this request supports Strategic Goal #5. 
 

Sustainability: 
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 

 

Staff Recommendation: 
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the attached two-lot Certified Survey Map (CSM) for 
the property located at 1345 Ritsher Street (or 1360 Madison Road) in the City of Beloit, subject to the following 
conditions: 

1. The swimming pool on Proposed Lot 1 must be completely removed by June 1, 2016. 
2. The final CSM shall substantially conform to the preliminary CSM submitted with this application for review. 
3. The applicant shall record the CSM with the Rock County Register of Deeds and shall provide the Planning and 

Building Services Division with a copy of the recorded CSM by December 31, 2015. 
 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A 
 

Attachments: Location Map, CSM, Application, and Resolution. 



December 9 Staff Report, CSM, 1345 Ritsher Drive 

 



December 9 Staff Report, CSM, 1345 Ritsher Drive 

 



December 9 Staff Report, CSM, 1345 Ritsher Drive 

 



December 9 Staff Report, CSM, 1345 Ritsher Drive 

 

 

RESOLUTION 

APPROVING A TWO-LOT CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 

FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT  

1345 RITSHER STREET (OR 1360 MADISON ROAD) IN THE CITY OF BELOIT 

 

WHEREAS, Section 12.05(1)b of Chapter 12 of the Code of General Ordinances of the 

City of Beloit entitled “Subdivision and Official Map Ordinance” authorizes the City Plan 

Commission of the City of Beloit to approve, conditionally approve, or reject any minor 

subdivision of land within the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the attached two-lot Certified Survey Map for the property located 1345 

Ritsher Street (or 1360 Madison Road), containing .708 acre, is located within the jurisdiction of 

the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission of the City of Beloit has reviewed the proposed 

two-lot Certified Survey Map, which pertains to the following described land: 

  
LOT 9 AND PART OF LOTS 8 AND 10, BLOCK 1 OF HARPER’S LITTLE FARMS, BEING A PART 

OF THE N.E. ¼ OF THE S.W. ¼ OF SECTION 27, ALL IN T. 1 N., R. 12 E., OF THE FOURTH P.M., 

CITY OF BELOIT, ROCK COUNTY, WISCONSIN. Containing .708 acre, more or less. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Plan Commission of the City of 

Beloit does hereby conditionally approve the attached two-lot Certified Survey Map for the 

property located at 1345 Ritsher Street (or 1360 Madison Road) in the City of Beloit, subject to 

the following conditions: 

 

1. The swimming pool on Proposed Lot 1 must be completely removed by June 1, 2016. 

2. The final CSM shall substantially conform to the preliminary CSM submitted with 

this application for review. 

3. The applicant shall record the CSM with the Rock County Register of Deeds and 

shall provide the Planning and Building Services Division with a copy of the recorded 

CSM by December 31, 2015. 

 

Adopted this 9
th

 day of December, 2015. 

 

 

   

 James Faragher, Plan Commission Chairman 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

  

Julie Christensen,  

Community Development Director 



December 9 Staff Report, RPB, Memorial Garden at Horace White Park Garden 

CITY OF BELOIT 

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 
Meeting Date: December 9, 2015 Agenda Item: 4 

 
File Number: RPB-2015-11 

Request: Memorial Garden in Horace  
White Park 

Owner: City of Beloit 
 

Location: 825 E Grand Ave 
 

Existing Zoning: PLI, Public Lands 
and Institutions District 

Existing Land Use: Park  

 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
Family Services of Southern Wisconsin and Northern Illinois (FSSWNI) has requested that the Plan Commission and City 
Council review their proposal for the installation of a memorial garden in Horace White Park located at 825 E Grand 
Avenue in the City of Beloit. The memorial garden will be dedicated to those individuals who have suffered from 
interpersonal violence. 
 
Key Issues: 

 The Plan Commission and City Council are required by Wisconsin Statutes to review & approve public memorials. 
 A site plan and specification sheets are attached to this report. 
 The Horace White Park Master Plan (see attached map) recommends a garden area in the same location 

proposed by FSSWNI. 
 The proposed design for the garden was completed by the Angus Young & Associates in consultation with the 

City’s Horticultural Specialist and includes a pergola, benches, rock sculpture, brick patio area, and a variety of 
perennial plants. 

o As shown in the attachments, the design team has submitted two landscaping options. 
 FSSWNI will use volunteers to ensure maintenance and upkeep of the garden. The have also obtained verbal 

commitments from a number of other organizations interested providing their own volunteers. 
 The Parks, Recreation, and Conservation Advisory Commission reviewed this request on September 9, 2015 and 

voted unanimously (5-0) to approve the proposed garden (see attached Action Report). 
 The Landmarks Commission reviewed this request on November 17, 2015 and voted unanimously (7-0) to 

approve the Certificate of Appropriateness for the proposed garden. 
 
 
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates the subject property as appropriate for Parks and Open Space uses. 

 Consideration of this request supports Strategic Goal #5. 
  

Sustainability: 
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – The proposed memorial 

garden, with installation and maintenance to be funded by FSSWNI, will provide an additional park activity for the 
citizens of Beloit with minimal cost to the City.  

 

Staff Recommendation: 
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the installation of a memorial garden at Horace 
White Park located at 825 E Grand Avenue. 
 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: The Parks and Leisure Service Division anticipates minimal financial costs for the division 
as the garden will be maintained primarily by volunteers from FSSWNI and other businesses/organizations. 
 

Attachments: Action Report, Park Master Plan Map, Project Proposal 
 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report, RPB, Memorial Garden at Horace White Park 

 
 



December 9 Staff Report, RPB, Memorial Garden at Horace White Park 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  



December 9 Staff Report, RPB, Memorial Garden at Horace White Park 

Pg 144 | Parks, Open Space, and Recreation Plan, 2012 - 2016 | Horace White Park 

 

 

 

 

 

 



December 9 Staff Report, RPB, Memorial Garden at Horace White Park 

 



December 9 Staff Report, RPB, Memorial Garden at Horace White Park 

 
  



December 9 Staff Report, RPB, Memorial Garden at Horace White Park 

Landscaping Option A 

 
 

  

 

 



December 9 Staff Report, RPB, Memorial Garden at Horace White Park 

Landscaping Option B 

 



December 9 Staff Report, SOE, 1405 Gateway Blvd1405 Gateway Blvd  

 

CITY OF BELOIT 
REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 
Meeting Date: December 9, 2015 
 

Agenda Item: 5 File Number: SOE-2015-03 

Applicant: Bill Baggett 
 

Owner: Pratt Industries, Inc. Location: 1405 Gateway Boulevard 

Existing Zoning: M-2, General 
Manufacturing District 

Existing Land Use: Cardboard 
manufacturing facility 

Parcel Size: 39.83 Acres 

 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
Bill Baggett, on behalf of Pratt Industries, Inc., has filed an application for an exception to Section 30.40(2)(c) of the 
Outdoor Sign Regulations (the “Sign Ordinance”) to allow a secondary, on-premises wall sign larger than 30 square feet in 
area in an M-2, General Manufacturing District, for the property located at 1405 Gateway Boulevard. 
 
 
Key Issues: 

 The applicant has submitted plans to install two new signs on the subject property. The Plan Commission is only 
reviewing the proposed secondary sign, as the proposed primary sign is permitted by right. 

 According to the Sign Code, each business property is allowed 3 secondary signs up to 30 square-feet in area. 
 The applicant has proposed a secondary sign that is 5 feet in height, 29.1 feet in length (at widest section), and 

123.1 square-feet in area. A rendering of the proposed secondary sign is attached to this report. As shown in the 
rendering, the sign will consist of one-inch thick PVC letters in blue and black. The proposed sign will not be 
internally lit. 

 The primary sign (not being considered by Plan Commission) will be made of the same material as the secondary 
sign and consists of the Pratt “100% Recycled Logo” and blue letters spelling out “Pratt Industries”. The logo is 7 
feet in height and the letters are 3.5 feet in height. The total area of the primary sign is approximately 150 square-
feet. The primary sign will be located on the northwest façade. 

 As shown on the attached sign site plan and renderings, the applicant has proposed the southwest façade of the 
building for the location of the secondary sign. 

 The attached Location and Zoning Map shows the location of the parcel involved in this application. The 
adjacent zoning and land uses are as follows: 

  North: M-2, General Manufacturing District; Open Space 
  South: M-2, General Manufacturing District; Industrial 
  East: M-2, General Manufacturing District; Open Space 

West: M-2, General Manufacturing District; Industrial 
 All new signs in the Gateway Business Park must be reviewed and approved by the Gateway Review Board prior 

to installation. 
 According to the Sign Ordinance, the Plan Commission may grant an exception if it determines that compliance 

will create an economic hardship, the hardship is not self-created, and the exception will not undermine the 
purpose of the Sign Ordinance or the public interest. 

 An approved Sign Ordinance Exception only applies an exception to the sign being considered in the application. 
The applicant is allowed to install two more secondary signs by right, but would need to apply for a Sign 
Ordinance Exception if either exceeds the 30 square feet allowed by code. 

 The application, which is attached to this report, includes a brief statement relating to hardship. In additional 
discussions, the applicant communicated that compliance with the strict letter of the Sign Ordinance would limit 
the visibility of the wall sign due to the large size of the building and location of the building in relation to I-90, an 
important source of advertising for many businesses in the Gateway Business Park.  

 Findings of Fact 
Section 30.48(2) of the Sign Ordinance outlines standards for granting an exception.  The Ordinance states 
that the Plan Commission may grant an exception if it determines that: 

a. Compliance with the strict letter of the Sign Ordinance would create an economic hardship by either 
unreasonably restricting an on-premises sign owner from advertising a business or rendering 
conformity with such regulations unnecessarily burdensome upon an owner of an on-premises sign. 

 The subject property is located in the Gateway Business Park and has a sight distance from 
Interstate 90 (I-90) of approximately 10,000 feet. Businesses located in the park rely on the 
advertising power of being positioned near a heavily-trafficked corridor and generally direct 
their signage towards I-90 for maximum effectiveness. Due to the irregular shape of the 
subject parcel, the Pratt Industries facility is angled in a manner that requires two signs in 



December 9 Staff Report, SOE, 1405 Gateway Blvd1405 Gateway Blvd  

order to be visible to both eastbound and westbound traffic on I-90. The large facility, 
approximately 360,000 square feet in area, also necessitates a sign large enough to stand 
out against the expansive 40,000 square-foot façade.  Therefore, limiting the secondary sign 
to 30 square feet would place an unnecessary burden upon the applicant. 

 
b. The hardship is not self-created. 

 As stated above, large facilities in the Gateway Business Park rely on being visible from the 
interstate in order to advertise their businesses. The city encourages large facilities to locate 
in the park due to their intensity and scale and limiting the size of secondary signs to 30 
square feet may not appropriate for the physical characteristics of some current and future 
buildings in the park. Therefore, the hardship resulting from strict compliance with the 
secondary, on-premises wall sign standards is not self-created. 

 
c. The exception will not undermine the purpose of the Sign Ordinance or the public interest. 

 The purpose of the ordinance is to assure that property owners engage in the reasonable and 
orderly display of outdoor signs.  The proposed exception to the secondary, on-premises wall 
sign standards will allow the applicant to advertise effectively and appropriately given the 
scale and location of the facility. Therefore the proposed exception to the secondary, on-
premises wall sign standards will not undermine the purpose of the Sign Ordinance or the 
public interest. 

 
 
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  
The subject property’s underlying zoning district classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. Consideration of 
this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5. 
 

Sustainability:  
 

 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature - N/A 
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 

 

Staff Recommendation: 
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of an exception to Section 30.40(2)(c) of the Outdoor 
Sign Regulations (the “Sign Ordinance”) to allow a secondary, on-premises wall sign larger than 30 square feet in area in 
a M-2, General Manufacturing District, for the property located at 1405 Gateway Boulevard, based on the above Findings 
of Fact and subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The applicant may install a secondary, on-premises wall sign with a maximum height of 5 feet and a maximum 
area of 124 square feet. 

2. The applicant or sign contractor shall obtain approval from the Gateway Review Board before installing the sign. 
3. The applicant or sign contractor shall obtain a Sign Permit before installing the sign. 
4. Any major changes in the adopted conditions of this Sign Ordinance Exception shall be approved by the Plan 

Commission. The Director of Planning & Building Services may approve minor changes administratively. 
 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A 
 

Attachments: Location & Zoning Map, Site Plan w/ Sign Locations, Sign Specifications, Application, Public Notice, and 
Resolution. 
 



December 9 Staff Report, SOE, 1405 Gateway Blvd1405 Gateway Blvd  



December 9 Staff Report, SOE, 1405 Gateway Blvd1405 Gateway Blvd  

 

Location of Primary and Secondary Signs 



December 9 Staff Report, SOE, 1405 Gateway Blvd1405 Gateway Blvd  

 

Primary Sign – NW Façade 

-  



December 9 Staff Report, SOE, 1405 Gateway Blvd1405 Gateway Blvd  

 
 

Secondary Sign – SW Façade  



December 9 Staff Report, SOE, 1405 Gateway Blvd1405 Gateway Blvd  

 

 



December 9 Staff Report, SOE, 1405 Gateway Blvd1405 Gateway Blvd  

 



December 9 Staff Report, SOE, 1405 Gateway Blvd1405 Gateway Blvd  

 



 

 

 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AN EXCEPTION TO 

THE SIGN ORDINANCE FOR THE PROPERTY 

LOCATED AT 1405 GATEWAY BOULEVARD 

 

WHEREAS, the application of Bill Baggett, on behalf of Pratt Industries, for an exception to 

Section 30.40(2)(c) of the Outdoor Sign Regulations (the “Sign Ordinance”) to allow secondary, on-

premises wall sign larger than 30 square feet in area in an M-2, General Manufacturing District, for the 

property located at 1405 Gateway Boulevard, having been considered by the Plan Commission of the City 

of Beloit, Wisconsin at a public hearing held for that purpose. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, that the Plan Commission of the City of 

Beloit, Rock County, Wisconsin does hereby grant an exception to Section 30.40(2)(c) to allow a 

secondary, on-premises wall sign larger than 30 square feet in area in an M-2, General Manufacturing 

District, for the property located at 1405 Gateway Boulevard in the City of Beloit, for the following 

described premises: 

 

All of Lots 8, 9, 10, 17, 18, 21, 22 and the northwesterly 100 feet in equal width of Lot 11 

of Gateway Business Park Plat No. 1, recorded in Volume 32 of Plats on pages 715-719 as 

Document #17225149, City of Beloit, County of Rock, State of Wisconsin.  Said parcel 

contains 39.83 acres, more or less. (a/k/a 1405 Gateway Boulevard). 

 

This exception is subject to the following conditions: 

1. The applicant may install a secondary, on-premises wall sign with a maximum height of 5 feet 

and a maximum size of 124 square feet. 

2. The applicant or sign contractor shall obtain approval from the Gateway Review Board before 

installing the sign. 

3. The applicant or sign contractor shall obtain a Sign Permit before installing the sign. 

4. Any major changes in the adopted conditions of this Sign Ordinance Exception shall be approved 

by the Plan Commission. The Director of Planning & Building Services may approve minor 

changes administratively. 

 

Adopted this 9
th
 day of December, 2015. 

 

 PLAN COMMISSION 

 

 

   

 James Faragher, Plan Commission Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

  

Julie Christensen, Community Development Director 
 



December 9 Staff Report 6, Alley Vacation 

 

CITY OF BELOIT 

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 
Meeting Date: December 9, 2015 
 

Agenda Item: 6 File Number: VA-2014-03 

Applicants: David & Diana Quillen 
and Four Adjacent Property Owners 

Adjacent Zoning: R-1B, Single-
Family Residential District 

Adjacent Land Use: Single-Family 
Dwellings 

 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
The Planning & Building Services Division has received a petition to vacate an unnamed east-west alley located between 
the nine hundred blocks of Johnson Street and Townline Avenue. The attached Plat of Vacation shows this alley, and the 
requested vacation would return the entire land area to the owners of the abutting lots. 
 
 
Key Issues: 

 Facts 
o This east-west alley is perpendicular to a north-south alley that was vacated in 1981 and 2009. 
o There are seven lots with frontage on this alley, and five of the seven property owners signed the petition. 
o This request was originally filed in late 2014, but was delayed until March 2015 because the bank that 

previously owned 1815 Portland Avenue formally objected to the elimination of the alley. 
o The Plan Commission considered this petition on March 4, 2015 and laid over this request until Planning 

staff was able to work with the new owner of 1815 Portland Avenue (once purchased) to resolve the 
access & parking issues below. The previously bank-owned property at 1815 Portland Avenue was 
acquired by FOR HIM Inc. in August 2015, and FOR HIM Inc. has expressed support for this vacation 
request. 

 Wisconsin Statutes 
o According to Section 66.1003(3) of Wisconsin Statutes, the City Council may vacate an unpaved alley 

upon the written petition of the owners of more than 50% of the frontage of the lots abutting upon the 
portion of the unpaved alley to be vacated. The petition that has been submitted meets this requirement. 

o According to Section 66.1003(4)(d) of Wisconsin Statutes, “no discontinuance of an unpaved alley shall 
be ordered if a written objection to a proposed discontinuance is filed with the city, village or town clerk by 
the owner of one parcel of land that abuts the portion of the alley to be discontinued and if the alley 
provides the only access to off-street parking for the parcel of land owned by the objector.” 

 Off-Street Parking Issue Resolution 
o According to Section 8-103 of the Zoning Ordinance, all single-family dwellings must have at least two off-

street parking spaces. 
o The property at 1815 Portland Avenue has a narrow, gravel driveway with a shared apron on Portland 

Avenue, and at least two paved off-street parking stalls on a rear slab accessed from the alley. The new 
owner of 1815 Portland Avenue has submitted a copy of a Driveway Easement over a portion of the 
adjacent (shared) driveway at 1819 Portland Avenue, which resolves the encroachment issue and 
provides perpetual access to the off-street parking spaces accessed from Portland Avenue. 

 If vacated, AT&T, Alliant Energy, and Charter have requested a utility easement over the entire alley. 
 
 
Consistency with Strategic Plan: Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5. 
 

Sustainability: 
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 

 

Staff Recommendation: 
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the attached petition to vacate an unnamed east-
west alley located between the nine hundred blocks of Johnson Street and Townline Avenue. 
 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A 
 

Attachments: Vacation Petition, Plat of Vacation, Map, Photo, Petitioner’s Letter, and Letter to Property Owners. 



December 9 Staff Report 6, Alley Vacation 

 



December 9 Staff Report 6, Alley Vacation 



December 9 Staff Report 6, Alley Vacation 



December 9 Staff Report 6, Alley Vacation 

 
 

 
 



December 9 Staff Report 6, Alley Vacation 

 
 
 
 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 6, Alley Vacation 

 



December 9 Staff Report 6, Alley Vacation 

 



December 9 Staff Report 7, Comp Plan Amendment (Kolak)   

 

CITY OF BELOIT 

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 

Meeting Date: December 9, 2015 Agenda Item: 7 File Number: RPB-2015-09 

 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
Commonwealth Development has submitted an application requesting an amendment to the Future Land Use Map (Map 
10) of the City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan. Wisconsin’s Comprehensive Planning Law, §66.1001 of the Wisconsin 
Statutes, was signed into law in 1999. This legislation is commonly known as Wisconsin’s “smart growth” law, although 
the law does not prescribe or require a particular type of development pattern. The Comprehensive Planning law requires 
all cities, towns, and villages that regulate land use through land use ordinances (e.g. zoning) to adopt a Comprehensive 
Plan. Comprehensive Plans are intended to guide development and redevelopment over a 20-year timeframe. The law 
also requires that land use decisions be consistent with the plan. 
 
The Beloit City Council approved the City’s Comprehensive Plan in March 2008 after an extensive public participation 
program. All land use decisions made by the City of Beloit, including any actions regarding official mapping, local 
subdivision regulation, and zoning regulations, must be consistent with the plan. The Beloit City Council established a 
process for amendments (minor changes) to the Comprehensive Plan on February 1, 2010. The Plan Commission’s 
recommendation to approve or deny will be forwarded to the City Council for consideration on December 21, 2015. 
 
 
Key Issues: 

 The applicant is requesting the following amendment to the Future Land Use Map: 
o 1633 Keeler Avenue (Kolak Education Center) – From Institutional & Community Services to Mixed 

Residential. 
 The applicant has made an accepted offer to purchase the subject property from the School District of Beloit. 
 The applicant has proposed the adaptive reuse/redevelopment of the subject property into a multifamily 

residential community with up to 33 dwelling units. 
 The proposed Plan amendment is related to the applicant’s concurrent request to rezone the subject property 

from PLI, Public Lands & Institutions District to PUD, Planned Unit Development District. 
 Maps – Existing & Future Land Use 

o An Existing Land Use Map is attached, which shows the surrounding uses with a color coded legend. 
o The Future Land Use Map is attached, which is the adopted map that guides zoning decisions. 

 Land Use Context 
o The subject property was constructed (circa 1919) as Roosevelt Jr. High School, which operated until 

1980. In 1982, the School District renovated the school building into the district’s administrative offices. 
The offices were renamed the Kolak Center in 1997. Approximately 55 administrative employees work in 
the Kolak Center on a given weekday. 

o With at least half of the 6-acre site unimproved, the subject property has historically served as the 
neighborhood’s open space. There is a City-owned baseball field (park) to the east of the subject 
property, and the parkland backs up to the railroad tracks. The Turtle Creek Floodplain Greenway lies on 
the opposite side of the railroad tracks and creek. 

o As shown on the attached map, the predominant surrounding land use is single-family residential with a 
detached garage. The majority of the neighborhood homes were constructed from 1905 to 1930, when 
this neighborhood (and all of Beloit) experienced rapid growth. The majority of homes are owner-
occupied, although that percentage decreases noticeably from the east end of the immediate 
neighborhood (Evergreen) to the west end (Prairie Avenue). There are a few duplexes in the immediate 
area as well, although the neighborhood was downzoned to single-family residential in 1999. 

o The subject property is 1-2 blocks from the closest arterial streets (White Avenue & Prairie Avenue), so all 
traffic to/from the site must utilize the connecting local streets (i.e. La Salle, Hinsdale, Eaton, Partridge, 
Central, & Keeler). Due to the adjacent greenway, the lack of through traffic, and surrounding single-
family uses, the neighborhood has a distinct “edge-of-town” or “hidden” character that is important to the 
existing homeowners. 

 Public Participation 
o Public input and support is a critical component of Comprehensive Planning. During the applicant’s 

neighborhood meeting on August 25
th
, the Plan Commission workshop on September 23

rd
, and the Plan 

Commission meeting on October 7
th
, the residents of the neighborhood expressed vehement and 

unanimous opposition to the proposed Plan amendment. 
o The neighbors have submitted a petition signed by 173 residents and a formal Zoning Protest Petition in 



December 9 Staff Report 7, Comp Plan Amendment (Kolak)   

opposition to the applicant’s proposed redevelopment. 
o The applicant has argued that the City needs to increase, diversify, & modernize our housing stock to 

attract & retain young professionals. Planning staff agrees, but numerous public & private efforts are 
underway to achieve that goal in other areas of the City, and the existence of that shared goal should not 
override the voices of those already residing in our diverse central City neighborhoods. 

 Land Use Analysis – Proposed Mixed Residential Use 
o According to the Comprehensive Plan, the subject property is designated for Institutional & Community 

Services, a recommendation which is “designed to facilitate large-scale public buildings, schools, etc.” 
o The Mixed Residential land use category “is intended for a variety of residential units focused on multiple 

family housing, usually developed at densities that exceed six units per acre and served by public 
sanitary sewer and water systems.” Within this recommendation, the plan encourages “multiple-family 
residential building sizes of between 8 and 32 units.” The surrounding blocks average 6 units per acre. 

o Planning staff supports the creation of additional multi-family developments in the City when compatible 
with existing and/or proposed land uses and supported by existing and/or planned infrastructure, but the 
proposed Plan amendment does not pass these tests. 

o The proposed amendment to the Future Land Use Map would dramatically change the character of the 
established immediate neighborhood. The subject property has always been a supportive institutional 
presence, first as a school and later as an administrative office that offers employment opportunities and 
operational hours that are compatible with the surrounding single-family districts. In addition, the 
management of the site has always been accountable to the public and surrounding residents, thanks to 
elected members of the School Board retaining oversight. 

o The proposed amendment (and corresponding Planned Unit Development) would change the character 
of the neighborhood by altering a century-old land use and creating evening & weekend activity & traffic. 

o According to the Plan itself, “frequent amendments only to accommodate specific development proposals 
should be avoided, or else the Plan will become meaningless.” Particularly in light of the neighborhood 
opposition, amending the Plan to accommodate a specific development is not advisable public policy. 

o While it is true that Planning staff’s “initial reaction” to the original 60-unit multifamily proposal in 
September involved a counter-offer that would have reduced the number of units to 33, that offer was 
rejected by the applicant and an unprecedented level of neighborhood opposition and a formal zoning 
protest petition have come to fruition during this planning process. Planning staff’s appreciation of the 
adaptive reuse and historic preservation components of the project have been eclipsed by the opposition 
of literally hundreds of residents, who unanimously oppose this proposed land use change within their 
historic and diverse neighborhood. Comprehensive Planning requires the participation and support of 
residents in the future of their community, and clearly, the plan should not be amended in the face of 
vehement and unanimous community opposition. 

 
 
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  

 The City’s compliance with the Comprehensive Planning law’s consistency requirement is the impetus for this 
request. 

 Consideration of this request supports Strategic Goal #5. 
  

Sustainability: (Briefly comment on the sustainable long term impact of this policy or program related to how it will impact 
both the built and natural environment utilizing the four following eco-municipality guidelines) 
 

 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 

 

Staff Recommendation: 
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends denial of the following proposed amendment to the Future Land 
Use Map (Map 10) of the City’s Comprehensive Plan: 

o 1633 Keeler Avenue (Kolak Education Center) – From Institutional & Community Services to Mixed 
Residential. 

 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: If approved, the proposed Plan amendment would allow the applicant’s development to 
move forward, which would make the subject property taxable for the first time. However, the true fiscal impact is more 
difficult to determine due to additional costs associated with infrastructure wear & tear, and protective services. 
 

Attachments: Existing Land Use Map, Future Land Use Map, Proposed PUD, Public Notice, Mailing List, and Resolution. 
 



December 9 Staff Report 7, Comp Plan Amendment (Kolak) 



December 9 Staff Report 7, Comp Plan Amendment (Kolak) 

Map 10, Future Land Use (Narrowed to Subject Properties) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   
 



December 9 Staff Report 7, Comp Plan Amendment (Kolak) 

 



December 9 Staff Report 7, Comp Plan Amendment (Kolak) 



December 9 Staff Report 7, Comp Plan Amendment (Kolak) 

 



December 9 Staff Report 7, Comp Plan Amendment (Kolak) 

 

 

 
 

 



 

RESOLUTION 

RECOMMENDING DENIAL OF AN AMENDMENT TO THE 

CITY OF BELOIT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit recommended approval of the 

Comprehensive Plan of the City of Beloit (the Plan) on January 23, 2008, and the City Council 

of the City of Beloit approved an Ordinance adopting the Plan on March 17, 2008; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Beloit approved a Resolution to Adopt a 

Process for Amending the City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan on February 1, 2010; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Plan may be amended and changed in the years following adoption, 

particularly in instances where the Plan is becoming irrelevant or contradictory to emerging 

policies or trends, or does not provide specific advice or guidance on an emerging issue; and 

 

WHEREAS, “amendments” are generally defined as minor changes to the Plan’s maps 

or text; and 

 

WHEREAS, frequent amendments only to accommodate specific development proposals 

such as the applicant’s request should be avoided, or else the Plan will become meaningless; and 

 

WHEREAS, the approved process directs the Plan Commission to hold a public meeting 

on the proposed amendment, and following said public meeting, make a recommendation by 

Resolution to the City Council by majority vote of the entire Commission. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Plan Commission of the City of 

Beloit, Rock County, Wisconsin, hereby recommends DENIAL of the following amendment to 

the Future Land Use Map (Map 10) of the City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan: 

 

1633 Keeler Avenue (Kolak Education Center) – From Institutional & Community 

Services to Mixed Residential. 

 

Adopted this 9
th

 day of December, 2015. 

 

 

   

 James Faragher, Plan Commission Chairman 

ATTEST: 

 

  

Julie Christensen,  

Community Development Director 

 



December 9 Staff Report 8, PUD, Kolak 

 

CITY OF BELOIT 

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 

Meeting Date: December 9, 2015 Agenda Item: 8 File Number: PUD-2015-01 

Applicant: Commonwealth 
Development 

Owner: School District of Beloit Location: 1633 Keeler Avenue 
 

Existing Zoning: PLI, Public Lands & 
Institutions District 

Existing Land Use: School District 
Office Building 

Parcel Size: 5.7 Acres 

 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
Commonwealth Development has submitted an application for review and consideration of a Planned Unit Development 
(PUD) - Master Land Use Plan for the Kolak Education Center property located at 1633 Keeler Avenue. A copy of the 
PUD - Master Land Use Plan is attached to this report. 
 
 
Key Issues: 

 The applicant has made an accepted offer to purchase the subject property from the School District of Beloit. 
 The applicant has proposed the adaptive reuse/redevelopment of the Kolak Center building into 33 housing units. 
 The PUD District is a special-purpose zoning district that permits greater flexibility in land planning and site design 

standards than conventional zoning districts and is intended to provide flexibility in architectural design and 
clustering of buildings. The process begins with submittal of a PUD – Master Land Use Plan, which is a 
conceptual plan. The PUD process also involves rezoning the subject property to PUD, either during or after 
consideration of the PUD – Master Land Use Plan. 

 The proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan is one of three land use applications needed for this project. The 
others are a requested amendment to the Future Land Use Map to recommend Mixed Residential uses for the 
subject property and a request for a Zoning Map Amendment (rezoning) from PLI, Public Lands & Institutions 
District to PUD District. All three applications are being reviewed on the same meeting schedule. 

 Neighborhood History & Context 
o The subject building was constructed (circa 1919) as Roosevelt Jr. High School, which operated until 

1980. In 1982, the School District renovated the school building into the district’s administrative offices. 
o With at least half of the 6-acre site unimproved, the subject property has historically served as the 

neighborhood’s open space. There is a City-owned baseball field (park) to the east of the subject 
property, and the parkland backs up to the railroad tracks. The Turtle Creek Floodplain Greenway lies on 
the opposite side of the railroad tracks and creek. 

o As shown on the attached map, the predominant surrounding land use is single-family residential with a 
detached garage. The majority of the neighborhood homes were constructed from 1905 to 1930, when 
this neighborhood (and all of Beloit) experienced rapid growth. The majority of homes are owner-
occupied, although that percentage decreases noticeably from the east to west. There are a few duplexes 
in the immediate area, although the neighborhood was downzoned to single-family residential in 1999. 

 Comprehensive Planning Considerations 
o According to the Comprehensive Plan, the subject property is designated for Institutional & Community 

Services, a recommendation which is “designed to facilitate large-scale public buildings, schools, religious 
institutions, etc.” The proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan is inconsistent with this recommendation. 

o The requested Mixed Residential land use category “is intended for a variety of residential units focused 
on multiple family housing, usually developed at densities that exceed six units per acre and served by 
public sanitary sewer and water systems.” Within this recommendation, the plan encourages “multiple-
family residential building sizes of between 8 and 32 units.” The surrounding blocks average 6 units per 
acre, and the proposed PUD is 5.8 units per acre. 

 Traffic Considerations & Projections 
o The subject property is 1-2 blocks from the closest arterial streets (White & Prairie), so all traffic to/from 

the site must utilize the local streets (i.e. La Salle, Hinsdale, Eaton, Partridge, Central, & Keeler). 
o During the applicant’s neighborhood meeting on August 25

th
 and the Plan Commission meetings on 

September 23
rd

 and October 7
th
, the residents of the neighborhood expressed vehement and unanimous 

opposition to the proposed project, with many neighbors citing increased traffic as their primary concern. 
o Existing Kolak Traffic:  There are 55 employees that work at the Kolak Center. Assuming each employee 

drives to/from work and 25 employees leave the office once for lunch and/or meetings each day, the 
current employee trips are approximately 160. Assuming 20 public visits per day, that brings the total 
weekday traffic generated by Kolak Center to approximately 200 vehicle trips. 

o According to the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Report (8
th
 Edition), a 



December 9 Staff Report 8, PUD, Kolak 

multifamily residential unit generates an average of 7.5 total trips per day. Therefore, the proposed 33-
unit development would generate an average of 248 total trips per weekday, or 24% more than the 
weekday traffic generated by Kolak. 

o Kolak does not currently generate any significant weekend traffic, whereas the proposed PUD would 
generate 150 to 200 vehicle trips per weekend day. 

o The proposed PUD provides adequate off-street parking that complies with the Zoning Ordinance. 
 Public Comments: The attached Public Notice was sent to property owners within 300 feet of the subject 

property, along with those who provided contact information at the neighborhood meeting in August and the Plan 
Commission meetings. Dozens of neighbors spoke in opposition to the proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan at 
each of the meetings, and staff has been contacted by dozens of residents both in and outside of the 
neighborhood who oppose the proposed redevelopment. 

o Neighborhood Petition:  The neighborhood has submitted a Neighborhood Protest Petition in opposition 
to the applicant’s request. This petition is signed by 173 neighbors. 

o Zoning Protest Petition:  Following the October 7
th
 Plan Commission meeting, Planning staff received a 

Zoning Protest Petition signed by the owners of more than 20% of the land area within 100 feet of the 
subject property. Planning staff has reviewed the petition and determined that it is a valid Zoning Protest 
Petition under Section 2-306 of the Zoning Ordinance/Wisconsin Statutes 62.23(7)(d)(2m)(a). As a result, 
at least three-fourths of the City Council members present on December 21

st
 need to vote in favor of 

Commonwealth’s application in order to approve the rezoning request from PLI to PUD. 
 Review Agents Concerns 

o If approved, the Fire Dept. will require increased water supply along Carnegie and additional hydrants. 
o If approved, the City Engineer will require designated haul routes & bonding to cover damage, Keeler bus 

lane removal & driveway consolidation, sanitary sewer relocation, and replacement/enhancement of the 
Carnegie water main from 6 inches to 8 inches to supply adequate pressure for fire protection. 

 Section 5-305 of the Zoning Ordinance requires the City Council to establish development standards during the 
PUD process. If approved, the PUD – Master Land Use Plan would be the conceptual approval of land use, 
building, and parking locations, with detailed civil site plans to follow for staff review & approval. 

 Section 2-402(g) of the Zoning Ordinance allows for the approval of a PUD - if the following criteria can be met: 
o The plan represents an improvement over what could have been accomplished through strict 

application of otherwise applicable standards, based on the purpose and intent of the Zoning 
Ordinance. The proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan would dramatically change the character of the 
established immediate neighborhood. The subject property has always been a supportive institutional 
presence, first as a school and later as an administrative office that offers employment opportunities and 
operational hours that are compatible with the surrounding single-family district. In addition, the 
management of the site has always been accountable to the public and surrounding residents, thanks to 
elected members of the School Board retaining oversight. 

o The PUD - Master Land Use Plan complies with the standards of Section 5-300. 
o Service providers will be able to provide necessary public services, facilities, and programs to 

serve the development proposed. See infrastructure comments above, which would be applicant’s cost. 
o The development is consistent with and implements the planning goals and objectives contained 

in the Comprehensive Plan and other adopted policies and documents. The proposed PUD is 
inconsistent with the adopted Future Land Use Map, which recommends continued institutional uses. 

o The PUD - Master Land Use Plan is consistent with sound planning practice and the development 
will promote the general welfare of the community. The proposed PUD would change the character of 
the neighborhood by altering a century-old land use, and by increasing daily traffic counts on local streets 
that are ill-equipped to absorb additional traffic. 

 

Sustainability: 
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 

 

Staff Recommendation: 
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends denial of the proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan for the 
Kolak Education Center property located at 1633 Keeler Avenue, based on its inconsistency with the Zoning Ordinance 
and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A 
 

Attachments: Proposed PUD Plan, Existing Land Use Map, Photos, Application, Public Notice, and Mailing List. 



December 9 Staff Report 8, PUD, Kolak 

Proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan 



December 9 Staff Report 8, PUD, Kolak 



December 9 Staff Report 8, PUD, Kolak 

 

 
 

 



December 9 Staff Report 8, PUD, Kolak 

 
 



December 9 Staff Report 8, PUD, Kolak 

 



December 9 Staff Report 8, PUD, Kolak 

 



December 9 Staff Report 8, PUD, Kolak 

 
 

 



December 9 Staff Report 8, PUD, Kolak 

 

 



December 9 Staff Report 8, PUD, Kolak 

 

 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

CITY OF BELOIT 

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 

Meeting Date: December 9, 2015 Agenda Item: 9 File Number: ZMA-2015-03 

Applicant: Commonwealth 
Development 

Owner: School District of Beloit 
 

Location: 1633 Keeler Avenue 
 

Current Zoning: PLI 
Proposed Zoning: PUD 

Existing Land Use: School District 
Office 

Total Area: 5.7 Acres 

 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
Commonwealth Development has submitted an application for a Zoning Map Amendment to change the zoning district 
classification from PLI, Public Lands & Institutions District to PUD, Planned Unit Development District, for the Kolak 
Center property located at 1633 Keeler Avenue. The attached Location & Zoning Map shows subject property and area. 
  
Key Issues: 

 The requested PUD zoning is tied to the applicant’s PUD – Master Land Use Plan, which proposes the adaptive 
reuse/redevelopment of the Kolak Center building into 33 housing units. If approved, the applicant will need to 
submit detailed site & architectural plans for Planning staff review and approval. 

 The applicant also submitted an application to amend the Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map to 
recommend Mixed Residential uses for the subject property. 

 An extensive discussion of neighborhood context, land use planning considerations, traffic projections, public 
comments, and infrastructure concerns is contained in the Staff Report for the PUD – Master Land Use Plan. 

 Findings of Fact - Based on Section 2-304 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan Commission shall make a 
recommendation based on the following considerations: 
a. The existing use of property within the general area of the subject property; 

 As shown on the attached map, the predominant surrounding land use is single-family residential. The 
proposed PUD would dramatically change the character of the established immediate neighborhood. The 
subject property has always been a supportive institutional presence, first as a school and later as a 
school office that offers employment opportunities and hours that are compatible with the neighborhood. 

b.  The zoning classification of property within the general area of the subject property; 

 As shown on the attached map, the subject property is surrounded by R-1B, Single-Family Residential, 
with the exception of the adjacent parkland. 

c. The suitability of the subject property for the uses permitted under the existing zoning classification; and 

 The subject property has served as a school and school-related office building for a century, and is 
certainly suitable for the other institutional uses allowed in the PLI district. The proposed PUD would 
change the character of the neighborhood by altering a century-old land use, creating night & weekend 
activity, and by increasing traffic levels on local streets that are ill-equipped to absorb it. 

d. The trend of development and zoning map amendments in the general area of the subject property. 

 The surrounding neighborhood has been a stable single-family neighborhood for decades, and has faced 
very little development pressure in the recent past. 

 
 
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  
The proposed PUD is inconsistent with the adopted Comprehensive Plan, which recommends Institutional & Community 
Service uses. Consideration of this request supports Strategic Goal #5. 
 

Sustainability: 
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 

 

Staff Recommendation: 
Based upon the above Findings of Fact and the City’s Comprehensive Plan, the Planning & Building Services Division 
recommends denial of a Zoning Map Amendment to change the zoning district classification from PLI, Public Lands & 
Institutions District to PUD, Planned Unit Development District, for the property located at 1633 Keeler Avenue. 
 

Attachments: Zoning Protest Petition (18), Neighborhood Petition (13), Letters, Map, PUD Plan, Application, & Notice. 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 
 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 
 
 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 

 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak     



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 
 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak  

 

 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak  

 



December 9 Staff Report 9, ZMA, Kolak 

 
 

See Mailing List in PUD-2015-01 Staff Report 


	Public hearing, review and consideration of Planned Unit Development – Master Land Use Plan for the property located at 1633 Keeler Avenue (Kolak Education Center)
	9. Zoning Map Amendment – 1633 Keeler Avenue – Commonwealth Development Public hearing, review and consideration of a Zoning Map Amendment to change the zoning district classification from PLI, Public Lands and Institutions District, to PUD, Planned U...

